RECEIVED

Aug 11 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM

THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000409

SCWCC FILE NO. 1602438

Randy Jordan, Employee, Respondent,

v.

S. C. Department of Transportation, Employer, and State Accident Fund, Carrier, Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Timothy B. Killen, Esquire
Holder Padgett Littlejohn + Prickett, LLC
945 Houston Northcutt Boulevard
Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
Office: (843) 277-0826
Fax: (843) 589-9000
tkillen@hplplaw.com
Attorneys for Appellants

Other Counsel of Record:

Stephen J. Wukela, Esquire
Wukela Law Office
Post Office Box 13057

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE COMMISSION ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT CLAIMANT SUFFERED A CHANGE OF CONDITION UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 42-17-90?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission.

The instant case was heard by the Single Commissioner on March 2, 2021. The Claimant's initial injuries were accepted, and the carrier provided all necessary causally related medical treatment. All parties agreed that the Claimant reached maximum medical improvement, settling the case *via* Form 16A on September 7, 2018. ROA 512; Form 16A. The Form 16A cites the Form 14B Physicians' Statement dated July 11, 2017, showing no additional medical treatment was ordered by the Claimant's authorized treating providers. *Id.* On September 18, 2018, Commissioner Melody James issued an Order confirming what medical treatment Defendants would be responsible for going forward, and also specifically laying out a deadline and terms for filing a change of condition claim with the Commission. ROA 49; 9/18/18 Order. That order was not appealed.

On August 9, 2020, Claimant filed a Form 50, alleging a change of condition for the worse and seeking additional medical treatment and benefits. ROA 99; 8/9/2020 Form 50. However, prior to the scheduled hearing, Claimant withdrew the hearing request. On September 30, 2019, Claimant asked that the Commission return the claim to General Files. ROA 510. General Files is where files without any pending action are stored. Thus, Claimant chose not to adjudicate his change of condition claim at that time, and all the claim sat stagnant.¹

¹ There is no mechanism under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act allowing Defendants to seek a hearing where Claimant is not pursuing his claim, as happened here, and the Commission would not have entertained a Form

Without any adjudication of the change of condition claim, Claimant treated on his own with various providers including Dr. Jason O’Dell, Dr. Bruce Johnson, and Dr. William James Edwards without authorization from the carrier. ROA 382 – 487; Claimant’s APA pp. 211 – 313.

Some four hundred and thirty-six days (436) after Claimant withdrew his Form 50 Hearing Request, Claimant then filed a new Form 50, Requesting a Hearing. ROA 97; 12/7/2020 Form 50. This filing was made on December 7, 2020. *Id.*

The Single Commissioner issued his Decision and Order on June 1, 2021. ROA 3; 6/1/21 Order. The claim for a change of condition was denied because of a number of reasons, including Claimant’s withdrawal of his hearing request, his failure to seek treatment through Defendants prior to the expiration of one (1) year, *res judicata*, and *laches*. ROA 3; 6/1/21 Order. Claimant timely appealed. ROA 60; Claimant’s Form 30, dated June 9, 2021.

Though not noted in the Appellate Panel Order, the matter was heard by the Appellate Panel of the Full Commission on November 23, 2021. ROA 21; Appellate Panel Order as a whole; Form 31. The Appellate Panel issued its Order on March 2, 2021. ROA 21; Appellate Panel Order p. 1. The Appellate reversed the Single Commissioner’s Findings and determined that Claimant had suffered a compensable change of condition. ROA 21; Appellate Panel Order.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act sets forth the standard for judicial review of decisions of the Workers’ Compensation Commission. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981); *Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co.*, 360 S.C. 276, 599 S.E.2d 604 (Ct. App. 2004). Pursuant to this scope of review, the Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the appellate panel as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. *Gadson v. Mikasa*

21 seeking to compel Claimant to litigate his change of condition of claim when there was no Form 50 hearing request pending. See *Labouser v. Harleysville Mut. Ins. Co.*, 302 S.C. 540, 397 S.E.2d 526 (1990).

Corp., 364 S.C. 214, 221, 628 S.E.2d 262 (2006); *Grant v. Grant Textiles*, 361 S.C. 188, 603 S.E.2d 858 (Ct. App. 2004). Substantial evidence is described as, “not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the administrative agency reached.” *Pratt v. Morris Roofing, Inc.*, 357 S.C. 619, 622, 594 S.E.2d 727 (2004). Where the issue is jurisdictional, including whether the Court and Commission has subject matter to hear the case, the question is one of law. *Gray v. Club Group, Ltd.*, 339 S.C. 173, 183, 528 S.E.2d 435, 440 (Ct.App. 2000). On issues of law, “this court has the power and duty to review the entire record and decide the jurisdictional facts in accord with its view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Posey v. Proper Mold & Eng'g, Inc.*, 378 S.C. 210, 216, 661 S.E.2d 395, 399 (Ct. App. 2008).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case was settled *via* Form 16A on September 7, 2018. ROA 512; Form 16A. On September 18, 2018, Commissioner Melody James issued an Order confirming what medical treatment Defendants would be responsible for going forward, and also specifically laying out a deadline and terms for filing a change of condition claim with the Commission. ROA ; 9/18/18 Order. That order was not appealed.

Claimant filed a Form 50 on August 9, 2019, alleging a change of condition for the worse and seeking additional medical treatment and benefits. ROA 49; 8/9/2020 Form 50. Claimant withdrew the hearing request on September 30, 2019, asking the Commission to return the claim to General Files. ROA 510. Accordingly, Claimant chose not to adjudicate his change of condition claim. The withdrawal of the Hearing Request took place just weeks prior to a scheduled hearing, about which time Claimant’s Pre-Hearing Brief and APA Submissions were due. S.C. Code Reg.

67-611.

Over a year later, or four hundred and thirty-six (436) after Claimant withdrew his Form 50, he filed a new Form 50, Requesting a Hearing, on December 7, 2020. ROA 97; 12/7/2020 Form 50. There is no mechanism under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act allowing Defendants to seek a hearing where Claimant is not pursuing his claim, as happened here, and the Commission would not have entertained a Form 21 seeking to compel Claimant to litigate his change of condition of claim when there was no Form 50 hearing request pending. *Labourer v. Harleysville Mut. Ins. Co.*, 302 S.C. 540, 397 S.E.2d 526 (1990).

Only after Claimant withdrew his Form 50 did he set the deposition of Dr. O'Dell, in what amounts to his first attempts to obtain the necessary evidence presented to the Commission to prove a change of condition. Dr. O'Dell's deposition was taken on December 3, 2020, a little over one (1) week prior to the filing of the second Form 50. ROA 146 and 494; Claimant's APA pp. 320. It was during this deposition that Claimant finally sought to obtain evidence to support his contention.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE COMMISSION ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT CLAIMANT SUFFERED A CAHNGE OF CONDITION UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 42-17-90?

A. Claimant Failed to Prove a Change of Condition per § 42-17-90.

The Appellate Panel determined that Claimant suffered compensable changes of condition for the worse to his left leg (ankle) and lumbar and cervical spine. ROA 47; Appellate Panel Order, p. 27. Appellants assert this is both an error of law and fact. Even if the matter were properly before the Commission (which is discussed, *infra*), the Claimant failed to prove that his worsening condition originated after the last payment of compensation. In fact, the evidence shows that any

worsening of Claimant's ankle condition occurred prior to the last payment of compensation, and any worsening of the Claimant's back conditions occurred well over a year after the last payment of compensation.

The burden of proof in establishing a claim for a change of condition is upon the Claimant. *See Robbins v. Walgreens and Broadspire Services, Inc.*, 375 S.C. 259, 652 S.E.2d 90 (Ct. App. 2007). Though this issue was fully briefed and argued before the Appellate Panel of the Full Commission, the Appellate Panel Order below fails to address this argument in any way other than the Panel's conclusory resolution that the Claimant suffered a change of condition.

S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-90 requires that the Claimant prove that the "change of condition [was] caused by the original injury, after the last payment of compensation." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-90(A). Claimant failed to prove that the onset of the alleged changes came about after the last payment of compensation. "A change in condition occurs when the claimant experiences a change in physical condition as a result of her original injury, *occurring after the first award.*" *Gattis v. Murrells Inlet VFW No. 10420*, 353 S.C. 100, 109, 576 S.E.2d 191, 196 (Ct. App. 2003) (emphasis added). "Under section 42-17-90, the review is 'sharply restricted to the question of extent of improvement or worsening of the injury on which the original award was based.' *Owenby v. Owens Corning Fiberglas*, 313 S.C. 181, 183, 437 S.E.2d 130, 132 (Ct. App. 1993) (citing *Krell v. South Carolina State Hwy. Dept.*, 237 S.C. 584, 588-89, 118 S.E.2d 322, 324 (1961) citing *Cromer v. Newberry Cotton Mills*, 201 S.C. 349, 23 S.E.2d 19 (1942)).

The only reference in the record as to the timing of the onset of the alleged changes (outside of the medical records, which show that the worsening was going on since the original injuries) appears in Dr. O'Dell's deposition. Record as a whole. However, Dr. O'Dell's opinion on this matter was vague. ROA 165 and 499; Claimant's APA 21, p. 19, lines 19 – 22. As noted in the

Full Commission Order, Dr. O'Dell opined that the alleged changes to Claimant's ankle came about sometime "after [Claimant was] released by Dr. Daily." ROA 25 and 35; Appellate Panel Order, pp. 5 and 15. Claimant was released by Dr. Daily on June 29, 2017. ROA 237; Claimant's APA p. 66. This was well before the last payment of compensation, which was made during the next year.

Claimant's first medical record following the settlement and last payment of compensation, is a June 18, 2019, note from Dr. O'Dell that reads, "[Claimant] states his ankle has been progressively getting worse *since the time of his initial injury.*" ROA 382; Claimant's APA p. 211 (emphasis added). This record is referenced in the Appellate Panel's Order at page 14 as support for the change of condition claim. ROA 34; Appellate Panel Order p. 14. However, there is no reference to the statement quoted above. ROA 21 – 48; Appellate Panel Order. In July of 2019, Claimant returned to Dr. O'Dell, and his complaints were the same as they were in June: "He states his symptoms are the same as they were at his last visit. His pain is more severe in the morning, related to start up pain. *He states this has been going on since his injury in 2016.*" ROA 389; Claimant's APA p. 218. Thus, Dr. O'Dell's notes show that the onset of the worsening was prior to the last payment of compensation.

The Appellate Panel directly relates all of the Claimant's claimed changes of condition to the left ankle: "As the condition of Claimant's left ankle worsened, the record reflects that the Claimant began developing increasing pain in his right hip and his low back as a result of the altered gait." ROA 35; Appellate Panel Order p. 15. However, after the settlement, the first medical record referencing the right hip does not appear until November 21, 2019. ROA 393 – 395; Claimant's APA pp. 222 – 224. Again, the Form 16A was entered into on September 7, 2018. ROA 512; Form 16A. This is over a year after the last payment of compensation. Further, after

the settlement, the first medical record referencing low back pain is from January 16, 2020, again well after a year since the last payment of compensation. ROA 396; Claimant's APA p. 225.

The Appellate Panel's Order noted that "Dr. Edwards did see the Claimant again on June 16, 2020, this time concerned about the worsening pain he was having in his cervical spine (also an admitted body part) and the radicular symptoms he was complaining of in his right upper extremity." ROA 35; Appellate Panel Order p. 15. This is the first reference to potentially worsening cervical spine pain on June 16, 2020, it occurs one (1) year, nine (9) months, and nine (9) days after the last payment of compensation. ROA 433 – 435; Claimant's APA Submission pp. 262 – 264. There is no evidence in the record relating the purported cervical worsening to Claimant's altered gait. Dr. Edwards noted Claimant's gait as "normal." ROA ; Claimant's APA p. 263. In fact, Dr. Edwards notes that the condition "started spontaneously". ROA 434; Claimant's APA p. 262. Further, when Claimant saw Dr. Edwards relative to low back pain (and no complaints of cervical pain) just five (5) days earlier, Dr. Edwards noted that Claimant's "[g]ait [was] non-antalgic." ROA 428; Claimant's APA p. 257.

Claimant did not treat for any other body part other than his left ankle prior to the expiration of the year following both the Form 16A and the Order of Commissioner James, outlining Claimant's timeline for filing a change of condition. Record as a whole. Therefore, the only worsening that could objectively could have occurred within that year was any worsening to the left ankle, which Dr. O'Dell notes to have begun well sooner.

Thus, there was no change of condition that developed within one year of the last payment of compensation. Claimant and the Appellate Panel blame the alleged worsening condition of multiple body parts on the condition of the ankle and alleged altered gait ("the record reflects that the Claimant began developing increasing pain in his right hip and his low back as a result of the

altered gait”) ROA 34; Appellate Panel Order p. 14. However, there was no change of condition in the ankle that was caused by the original condition within a year of the last payment of compensation. Since there was no change in the condition of the ankle (per Claimant’s own statements to Dr. O’Dell), there could have been no changes of conditions in the other body parts during that timeframe, either.

Since the statute requires that the review be made within twelve (12) months of the last payment of compensation, it would defy logic for the Commission to allow Claimant to be awarded benefits for a condition in Claimant’s ankle that was present at the time of the original award (the condition of the ankle) leading to alleged worsening of other body parts well after the year had expired. It would further defy logic to award benefits for conditions (back) for which there is no medical evidence of them existing prior to the expiration of that year.

Because Claimant failed to prove a change of condition with an onset date after the last date of compensation and/or within one year of the same, the Single Commissioner’s ruling should be affirmed. Further, the Order of the Single Commissioner should be affirmed.

B. Timing and Effect of Withdrawal of Form 50.

As alternate grounds for reversal, Appellants assert that this case must be reviewed on its own facts and urges this Honorable Court not to summarily dismiss the arguments of Appellants, as the Commission apparently did. Appellants urge this Court to review the actions and inactions taken by Claimant in pursuing his change of condition claim, and to conclude that these actions/inactions were the very “improper effort[s]” discussed in *Tucker* that “should have no chance at success.” *Tucker v. S.C. DOT*, 427 S.C. 299, 304, 831 S.E.2d 426, 428 (2019). If the actions/inactions of the Claimant in this matter are not considered to be relevant to the timing

requirement in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-90, then the timing requirement is wholly ineffective and useless and the words of the Supreme Court, above, are meaningless. Appellants assert that the Supreme Court's dicta should bear weight on the analysis of this case and the timing requirement in § 42-17-90.

Per S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-90(A), "the review [on a change of condition] must not be made after twelve months from the date of the last payment of compensation pursuant to an award provided by this title." The Supreme Court in *Tucker* called this timing requirement "ambiguous." *Tucker v. S.C. DOT*, 427 S.C. 299, 301, 831 S.E.2d 426, 427 (2019). Nevertheless, the Supreme Court has held "that the timing requirement is satisfied upon the filing of a Form 50 to initiate the claim." *Tucker v. S.C. DOT*, 427 S.C. 299, 300, 831 S.E.2d 426, 426 (2019). However, in that same case, the Supreme Court wrote:

The fact a claimant does not request a hearing does not mean the claim will sit unattended. In *Russell v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 281, 826 S.E.2d 863 (2019), we pointed out a "primary goal of the Workers' Compensation Act is to provide quick and efficient resolution of work-related injury claims." 426 S.C. at 285, 826 S.E.2d at 865. The commission shares with the parties the responsibility to meet that goal. 426 S.C. at 287, 826 S.E.2d at 866. We stated, "In most instances, . . . a claim filed with the commission will be assigned to one commissioner who must promptly conduct a hearing and 'determine the dispute in a summary manner.'" 426 S.C. at 288, 826 S.E.2d at 866 (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-40(A) (2015)). If the parties reasonably need time to prepare, or to negotiate in good faith, the assigned commissioner – or an appellate panel on review – should allow it. *In ordinary circumstances, however, no claim may be allowed to sit while the commission waits for a party to request a hearing.* In other words, even if a claimant checks the line 13a box indicating "I am not requesting a hearing at this time," the commission must act reasonably to move the claim toward a "quick and efficient resolution."

At oral argument, we discussed with counsel *the possibility a claimant may file a Form 50 within twelve months, and then intentionally delay a hearing in the hope that evidence will later develop to support a change of condition claim.* In the case before us, there is no indication whatsoever Tucker or his counsel attempted to do this. *Such an improper effort, as we have explained, should have no chance of success.* However, if an employer suspects this, and the commission does nothing

to move the claim toward resolution, the employer may request a hearing or in some other fashion seek to protect its interests.

Tucker v. S.C. DOT, 427 S.C. 299, 303-04, 831 S.E.2d 426, 428 (2019) (emphasis added).

Claimant herein filed a Form 50 on August 9, 2019, alleging a change of condition for the worse. ROA 99; 8/9/2019 Form 50. This was within the time period prescribed by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-90. Because of his subsequent actions, Defendants assert that Claimant filed this Form 50 only in an attempt to toll the statute. Claimant withdrew the hearing request on September 30, 2019, asking the Commission to return the claim to General Files. ROA 510. Accordingly, Claimant chose not to adjudicate his change of condition claim.

The withdrawal of the Hearing Request took place just weeks prior to a scheduled hearing, at which time Claimant's Pre-Hearing Brief and APA Submissions would have been due. S.C. Code Reg. 67-611. Defendants assert that the Form 50 was not withdrawn because the parties "reasonably need[ed] time to prepare, or to negotiate in good faith." *Tucker v. S.C. DOT*, 427 S.C. 299, 303, 831 S.E.2d 426, 428 (2019). Defendants assert that this delay was orchestrated intentionally to delay a hearing in the hope that evidence would later develop to support a change of condition claim. Defendants assert this conduct by the Claimant should have no chance at success, pursuant to the language of the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Tucker v. S.C. DOT*, 427 S.C. 299, 831 S.E.2d 426 (2019).

Over a year after Claimant withdrew the first Form 50, he finally set the deposition of Dr. Jason O'Dell, seeking to gather evidence for the change of condition claim. This deposition was taken on December 3, 2020, which, not coincidentally, was just prior to the filing of the second Form 50. ROA 146 and 494; Claimant's APA pp. 320. This deposition amounts to Claimant's first attempts to obtain the necessary evidence to prove a change of condition. The Appellate

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