RECEIVED

Aug 10 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
WCC FILE NO. 1602438

Appellate Case No.: 2022-000409

Randy Jordan, Employee, Respondent.

vs.

S.C. Department of Transportation, Employer, and
State Accident Fund, Carrier, Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

STEPHEN J. WUKELA
WUKELA LAW FIRM
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT
PO BOX 13057
FLORENCE SC 29504
843-669-5634

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

ARGUMENT

THE COMMISSION PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE RESPONDENT SUFFERED A CHANGE OF CONDITION PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE §42-17-90.

A. The Commission's Finding Of A Change Of Condition Pursuant To S.C. Code §42-17-90 Is Supported By Substantial Evidence; And, Therefore, Should Be Affirmed.

In support of its finding of change in condition the Commission found:

We find that, pursuant to SC Code [§42-17-90, sic] the [Respondent] has suffered a compensable change of condition of those admitted, compensable, injuries.

On September 7, 2018 the parties entered into a Form 16(A) Consent Order in which the [Respondent] was awarded benefits for permanent loss of use of the left leg and whole spine (neck and back).

Thereafter, the record reflects that the [Respondent] complained of, and was treated for, worsening pain, initially in his left ankle. In particular, on June 8, 2019, the [Respondent] saw orthopaedic surgeon, Dr. Jason O'Dell complaining of worsening pain in his left ankle. [R. p. 382]. Dr. O'Dell referred the [Respondent] for an MRI of his left ankle and saw him again on July 9, 2019, [R. p. 389], where he performed an injection in the subtalar joint of the left ankle. As the condition of the [Respondent's] left ankle worsened, the record reflects that the [Respondent] began developing increasing pain in his right hip and his low back as the result of altered gait.

[Respondent] continued seeing Dr. O'Dell, and on November 21, 2019 [R. p. 393] Dr. O'Dell noted the pain in his right hip, SI joint, and his difficulty walking and referred him for physical therapy to improve his gait. By January 16, 2020, [R. p. 396], Dr. O'Dell noted that the [Respondent's] pain was getting worse in his left lower extremity, noted pain in his back and right hip, and referred him for an MRI of his lumbar spine, which was performed on January 29, 2020. On February 13, 2020, [Respondent] again saw Dr. O'Dell [R. p. 405] for left lower extremity pain, lower back pain, and right hip pain. Dr. O'Dell reported that his MRI scan demonstrated broad base bulging at L4-5 and L5-S1. Dr. O'Dell continued the [Respondent's] physical therapy and saw him back on April 24,

2020 [R. p. 407] with the same complaints; whereupon Dr. O'Dell reported that [Respondent's] symptoms have gotten worse.

Dr. O'Dell ordered "Due to the worsening of his back pain and failure of physical therapy, the patient will be referred to Dr. Johnson for evaluation and treatment." [R. p. 408]. [Respondent] saw Dr. Johnson at McLeod Spine Center where he underwent epidural steroid injections at L5-S1 on May 1, 2020, May 15, 2020, and May 29, 2020. Dr. Johnson noted in his first note on May 1, 2020 "Patient has ongoing lumbar radiculopathy right lower extremity. This is progressively getting worse despite physical therapy done a couple months ago." [R. p. 419].

After a course of epidural steroid injections did not improve Mr. Jordan's condition, Dr. Johnson referred the [Respondent] to orthopaedic surgeon, Dr. Bill Edwards, who saw him on June 11, 2020 noting "Patient with worsening back pain radiating into both hips right greater than left." [R. p. 427]. Dr. Edwards did not recommend any surgery on the [Respondent's] lumbar spine at that point, but referred him back to Dr. Johnson for right facet joint block at L5-S1.

Dr. Edwards did see the [Respondent] again on June 16, 2020, this time concerned about the worsening pain he was having in his cervical spine (also an admitted body part) and the radicular symptoms he was complaining of in his right upper extremity. Dr. Edwards ordered cervical MRI and epidural steroid injections of the cervical spine. Ultimately, on July 23, 2020 Dr. Edwards referred the [Respondent] to Duke for further evaluation of his cervical spine.

The parties took the deposition of Dr. O'Dell on December 3, 2020. Dr. O'Dell testified:

Q. Okay. So now, you know, we had been talking about the ankle and your treatment of the left ankle and now we're talking about the right hip. What's the clinical significance of that?

A. So in somebody who has a lingering issue or potentially a worsening issue I do think that gait related problems can lead to some of these secondary hip or back problems or even knee problems on the other side.

[R. p. 157, lines 13- 21].

* * *

Q. I see. Okay. And, you know, as I said at the outset, his back was an admitted injury in the initial accident, his ankle was an admitted injury. **At this, point both his ankle and his back are worsening, is that a fair statement?**

A. Yes.

[R. p. 159, lines 14-19 (Emphasis added)].

* * *

Q. It's still your concern or impression is that this worsening of the back situation is a product of gait?

A. That is my opinion.

[R. p. 160, lines 21-24].

He went on to testify:

A. ...his chronic ankle injury is what led to the worsening of his back so to me I think the right thing for him is to continue treatment on the back....

[R. p. 163, line 6-9].

* * *

Q. **...do you have an opinion as to whether his ankle condition worsened after being released by Dr. Daily?**

A. **I think it did, yes.**

[R. p. 164, lines 12-14 (Emphasis added)].

* * *

Q. ...do you have an opinion as to whether his ankle condition aggravated the condition of his back?

A. I believe that he did.

[R. p. 164, lines 19-22].

In conclusion, Dr. O'Dell opined:

Q. **All right. The question I asked, though, was whether the condition of his ankle and the**

altered gait resulted in the aggravation and a worsening of the condition of his lumbar spine?

A. Yes. I think that's what happened.

Q. ...And was the treatment, the referrals you made to Dr. Johnson and then ultimately from Dr. Johnson to Dr. Edwards, necessary to treat that worsening?

A. Yes, it was.

[R. p. 165, line 19 - p. 166, line 3 (Emphasis added)].

In sum, [Respondent] sustained an admitted injury to his back, neck, and, left ankle. The uncontradicted testimony of the record is that the [Respondent's] left ankle has worsened and, as a result, has led to a worsening of the condition of the spine.

(R. pp. 22-25).

The Commission's finding sets out substantial evidence in support of its conclusion that the Respondent suffered a change of condition.

In sum, as the Commission found, the Respondent entered into a Form 16A Consent Order on September 7th, 2018. He saw orthopaedic surgeon Dr. Jason O'Dell for the first time on June 8th, 2019, nine months later. On that first visit Dr. O'Dell noted the Respondent's complaints of worsening pain in his left ankle. (R. p. 382).

Dr. O'Dell's records, note the worsening of the Respondent's ankle from the date forward, as well as his worsening complaints of his hip and spine pain that Dr. O'Dell related to the Respondent's altered gait. Dr. O'Dell referred the Respondent to Dr. Bill Edwards to treat the Respondent's spine.

Dr. O'Dell testified to the Respondent's worsening condition.

The medical records of Dr. O'Dell and Dr. Bill Edwards, orthopaedic surgeon at McLeod Orthopaedics, and Dr. Bruce Johnson, also of McLeod Spine Center, chronicle the variety of treatments provided by Dr. O'Dell, and Dr. Edwards and his partner, Dr. Bruce Johnson, including injections in his ankle and spine, to treat those worsening conditions.

The Appellants offered the Commission, and this Court, no evidence to contradict those medical records or the testimony of Dr. O'Dell.

Instead, before the Single Commissioner, the Appellants argued, and the Single Commissioner ruled, that Dr. O'Dell's uncontradicted testimony must be disregarded because he was not a surgeon selected and authorized by the Workers' Compensation Insurance Carrier.

The Appellate Panel reversed that ruling; finding:

Testimony of Unauthorized Surgeon

Our Courts have repeatedly held that the Commission may disregard medical evidence only when other competent evidence exists in the record. See Burnette v. City of Greenville, 401 S.C. 417 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing Potter v. Spartanburg School District 7 395 S.C. 17, 23 (Ct. App. 2011)).

Here, the uncontradicted testimony of the record by the [Respondent's] treating, albeit unauthorized, surgeon, Dr. O'Dell, was that he had suffered a change of condition.

In ruling contrary to this testimony, the Commissioner noted that the testimony came from a physician who was not authorized by the Employer/Carrier. Specifically, the Single Commissioner found that the [Respondent] "elected his remedy by treating on his own outside of the confines of the Workers' Compensation Act." [R. p. 70]. Likewise, the [Appellants] argue that "the [Respondent] usurped [Appellant's] rights under the statute to control medical treatment." [R. p. 69]

The Commission cannot disregard the testimony of the [Respondent's] qualified treating surgeon simply because the surgeon was not authorized by the Carrier; i.e. because the [Respondent] "treated on his own" ; particularly where, as here, that surgeon's testimony is uncontradicted in the record.

It is certainly true that S.C. Code §42-15-60 provides that "during any period of disability resulting from the injury, the employer, at his own option, may continue to furnish or cause to be furnished, free of charge to the employee, and the employee shall accept, an attending physician and any medical care or treatment that is considered necessary by the attending physician, unless otherwise ordered by the Commission for good cause shown." S.C. code §42-15-60.

S.C. Code §42-15-60 does not, however, prohibit a [Respondent] from treating with physicians and surgeons that are not authorized by the Carrier. Nor does S.C. Code §42-15-60 permit the Commission to disregard the opinions such unauthorized treating providers. See Burnette, 401 S.C. 417 (Commission may disregard medical evidence only when other competent evidence exists in the record).
(R. pp. 43-44).

The Appellants have now, apparently, abandoned the argument that Dr. O'Dell's opinions must be disregarded because he was not selected and authorized by Appellants. Nevertheless, they still, effectively, ask this Court to ignore Dr. O'Dell's testimony, and his records, beginning on June 8th, 2019 (R. p. 382); along with those of Dr. Edwards beginning June 11th, 2020 (R. p. 426); and those of Dr. Johnson beginning May 1st, 2020 (R. p. 418); which chronicle the worsening condition of the Respondent's ankle, and, consequently, his spine from June 8th, 2019 forward, after the September 7th, 2018 consent order.

Appellants ask this Court, in spite of that uncontradicted evidence, to find that the worsening of the Respondent's ankle and spine all occurred before the Form 16A consent order of September 7th, 2018, and that his condition did not worsen after September 7th, 2018.

Respectfully, even if this Court were inclined to reach that factual conclusion, such factual findings are the province of the Commission, and this Court should not substitute its own factual findings in place of the Commission's; where, as here, the Commission's findings are supported by substantial evidence. See, Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 364 S.C. 214, 221 (2006).

B. The Respondent's Claim For Change Of Condition Was Timely Filed.

1. The Appellants Waived Their Argument As To Timeliness Of The Respondent's Claim For Change Of Condition By Not Raising Such Affirmative Defense In Their Two Separate Answers.

The Appellate Panel properly found:

Finally, even assuming that the claim was untimely filed, the statute of limitations was not raised in either of the [Respondents'] Forms 51 dated August 27, 2019 or January 5, 2021.

The Statute of Limitations set out in §42-17-90 is an affirmative defense which must be raised in [Respondents'] Form 51 answer. See R.67-603(c). A Statute of Limitations defense under §42-17-90 not raised in a Form 51 is forfeited. See R.67-603(c).

2. Respondent Timely Filed His Claim For Change For Condition On August 9th, 2019 Within One Year Of The Form 16A Of September 7th, 2018, As Required By S.C. Code §42-17-90.

Before the Single Commissioner, the Appellants successfully argued that, by withdrawing his hearing request after filing the claim for change of condition on August 9th, 2019, the Respondent effectively withdrew his claim; rendering the second hearing request untimely.

The Appellate Panel reversed, explaining:

Secondly, we find that the claim met the time requirements of S.C Code §42-17-90. As the Commission's file reflects, the claim was timely filed on August 9, 2019, within one year of the date of the Form 16 dated September 7, 2018. The [Respondent's] did not withdraw his claim.

By email of September 30, 2019, the [Respondent's] counsel wrote the Commission "I am withdrawing my hearing request pending additional discovery. Please return the case to the general files." (Emphasis added). It is based on this email that the Single Commissioner found:

1. On September 30, 2019, [Respondent] withdrew his Form 50 alleging a change of condition and requesting a hearing, and requested that the claim be returned to general files. [R. p. 78].

* * *

2. Because the [Respondent] withdrew his request for additional medical treatment by withdrawing his Form 50 asserting a change in condition and requesting a hearing on September 30, 2019, as well as continuing to treat with Dr. O'Dell, I find as a matter of Fact that the [Respondent] has elected his remedy. [R. p. 78].

Respectfully, we find that the [Respondent] did not withdraw his claim for a change of condition. He, instead, withdrew only his hearing request.

Though both “claims” and “hearing requests” are procedurally accomplished by filing a Form 50, Commission Regulations distinguish between filing a claim and requesting a hearing. R.67-206 is titled “**Filing a Claim.**” Whereas, R.67-207 is titled “**Requesting a Hearing, Claimant.**”

R.67-609 titled: “**Withdrawing a Request for Hearing.**” provides that a claimant may withdraw a request for hearing by writing the Commission's Judicial Department and the Commission shall file a notice removing the case from the docket.

Such is precisely what the [Respondent] did by email of September 30, 2019.

R. 67-609 goes on to specifically provide that, “The notice is **without prejudice to the Claimant's right to proceed with his or her claim.**” (emphasis added).

Ultimately, S.C. Code §42-17-90 governs the timeliness of a claim for change of condition and would supersede Commission regulation were there a conflict between the two.

S.C. Code §42-17-90 requires that “on the application of a party in interest on the ground of a change in condition, the Commission may review an award... the review must not be made after twelve months from the date of the last payment of compensation...” S.C. Code §42-17-90(A)

Our Supreme Court has construed this language in the case of Tucker v. S.C. DOT, 427 SC 299 (2019). There, the Court found that the Court of Appeals properly reversed a Commission decision finding that an employee's claim was untimely under §42-17-90. The Claimant in Tucker had filed a Form 50 seeking a change of condition within one year, but had not requested a hearing. More than a year after the last payment of compensation, the Claimant filed a second Form 50; requesting a hearing. The Commission found the claim untimely. The Court of Appeals reversed.

The Supreme Court affirmed the Court of Appeals and distinguished "claims" from "hearing requests." The Supreme Court held that a Form 50 claim, even without a hearing request, meets the §42-17-90 requirement of an "application for review" within one year. The Supreme Court held "the filing of a Form 50 to initiate a claim for a change of condition is the event that must occur within twelve months of the last payment of compensation to meet the timing requirement of subsection §42-17-90(A)" Tucker, at 303.

Thus, pursuant to Tucker, the Claimant's filing of a Form 50 on August 9, 2019 to initiate a claim for a change of condition was the event that must occur within twelve months of the Form 16(A) of September 18, 2018, and it, therefore, met the timing requirement of §42-17-90.

The [Appellants] seek to distinguish Tucker from this case on the basis that, here, the [Respondent] withdrew his "request for hearing." We find that the [Respondent's] withdrawal of his hearing request had no effect on the timely filing of his claim. Tucker distinguished "claims" from "hearing requests" and held that the Claimant need only file a "claim" within one year. See Tucker, at 303. The Supreme Court's interpretation of S.C. Code §42-17-90 is, therefore, in accord with Commission Regulations.

Moreover, Commission Regulation R.67-609 titled "withdrawing a request for hearing" specifically provides that withdrawal of a hearing request "is without prejudice to the Claimant's right to proceed with his or her claim." R.67-609 (emphasis added).
(R. p. 38-41).

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